W O O A

W/APP
047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 11 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By  Deputy Clerk

JOEY LUIS ROJAS,
Petitioner,

versus

CASE NO. 73,622

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON, PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRYNN NEWTON
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
112-A Orange Avenue
Daytona Beach, Florida 32014-4310
904-252-3367
Florida Bar Number 175150

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted by the Grand Jury of Orange County, Florida, for first-degree murder, and was charged by an information with two counts of kidnapping. (R 753, 7, 9-10) He was tried by a jury on April 20 through 23, 1987, and found guilty of second-degree murder with a deadly weapon and two counts of false imprisonment. (R 655, 793, 794) He appealed his judgment and concurrent prison terms totalling twenty-two years to the Fifth District Court of Appeal and on December 22, 1988, his convictions and sentences were affirmed. Rojas v. State, 535 So.2d 674 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

Petitioner's notice to invoke this Honorable Court's jurisdiction was given on January 20, 1989, and jurisdiction was accepted by this Honorable Court on April 14, 1989.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the late evening of October 28-29, 1986, Tammy Howard and Maria Steverson met Petitioner's nephew, Ricky Delgado, at a club on Orange Blossom Trail in Orlando, Florida, and rode with them to a store or white building in Eatonville in Orange County, where the women said that several black men approached the car. (R 178, 179, 180, 181, 182, 195, 211, 212, 213, 214, 232) They said they did not hear any conversation except someone's saying, "Don't rip me off like in New York." (R 183, 216, 217, 236) Petitioner drove away suddenly, they said, with a black man hanging half in and half out of the vehicle. (R 184, 217, 218, 256) The car stopped about two blocks down the road, where they said Petitioner and the man fought outside the car in the street. (R 185-186, 202, 208, 219, 223, 246) They said after Petitioner hit the man a couple of times, he got back in the car, (R 186, 187, 200, 203, 221)

A sixteen-year-old cocaine "runner" testified that he was present at the Rainbow Club when James Lorenzo Richardson sold Petitioner a twenty-dollar piece of crack cocaine, and when Petitioner did not pay him, Mr. Richardson leaped into the car and grabbed Petitioner's steering wheel. (R 252, 253, 254, 255, 290, 291, 292; 454, 455, 456, 457, 458, 472)

James Richardson died from two stab wounds to his heart via one chest wound. (R 356) No one saw Petitioner stab Mr. Richardson, and no one saw, or ever found, a knife. (R 187, 200, 224, 240, 261, 286, 324, 358, 390, 400, 461)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: It is reversible and fundamental error for the trial court to fail to fully instruct a jury on all the essential elements of manslaughter, a lesser offense included within the crime of first-degree murder for which Petitioner was on trial. The definition of manslaughter necessarily includes the definition of excusable and justifiable homicide, which must be read contemporaneously with the instruction on manslaughter. Although an objection has been held not to be required to preserve this fundamental error, Petitioner's request for a full instruction on excusable and justifiable homicide has otherwise preserved the error for appeal.

POINT 11: Petitioner was entitled to an instruction on his defense of self-defense where the State's witnesses' testimony showed that Petitioner was fighting with the deceased and may have been attacked by the deceased.

POINT 111: The State in this case was guilty of misconduct where a State witness sought by the defense for deposition was found three days before trial but that fact was not disclosed to the defense until the third day of the trial, after the prosecutor had found time to interview the witness and determine whether he would be called. A recess for the taking of a deposition was inadequate to allow the defense to make meaningful use of the newly available witness, particularly where other key State witnesses had already testified and been cross-examined.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO RENDER A COMPLETE AND CONTEMPORANEOUS DEFINITION OF JUSTIFIABLE AND EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE AS PART OF ITS INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER WAS FUNDAMENTAL, REVERSIBLE ERROR.

At Petitioner's trial for murder, the trial court instructed the jury by reading the standard jury instruction on manslaughter:

THE COURT:

In connection with the accusation of murder in the first degree, murder in the first degree includes the lesser crimes of murder in the second degree, murder in the third degree, and manslaughter, all of which are unlawful.

A killing that is excusable or was committed by the lawful use--excuse me, by the use of justifiable deadly force is lawful.

If you find James Lorenzo Richardson was killed by Joey Luis Rojas, you will then consider the circumstances surrounding the killing in deciding if the killing was murder in the first degree or was murder in the second degree, or whether the killing was excusable or resulted from justifiable use of deadly force.

The killing of a human being is justifiable homicide and lawful if necessarily done while resisting an attempt to murder or commit a felony upon the defendant, or to commit a felony in any dwelling house in which the defendant may have been at

the time of the killing.

The killing of a human being is excusable and, therefore, lawful when committed by accident and misfortune in doing any lawful act by lawful means with usual ordinary caution, and without any unlawful intent, or by accident or misfortune in the heat of passion upon any sudden and sufficient provocation, or upon a sudden combat without any dangerous weapon being used, and not done in a cruel or unusual manner.

(R 629-630, 797)

After defining first-degree murder and second-degree murder, the trial court read:

THE COURT: Before you can find the defendant guilty of manslaughter, the State must prove the following two elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

One, that James Lorenzo Richardson is dead.

Secondly, that his death was caused by the act, procurement or culpable negligence of Joey Luis Rojas.

I will define culpable negligence for you. Under the law each of us has a duty to act reasonably towards others. If there is a violation of that duty without any conscious intention to harm that violation is referred to as negligence.

Culpable negligence is more than a failure to perform that duty or more than a failure to use ordinary care for others. For negligence to be called culpable negligence it must be gross and flagrant.

The negligence must be committed with utter disregard for the safety of others. Culpable negligence is consciously doing an act or following a course of conduct that the defendant must have known or reasonably should have known was likely to cause death or great bodily injury.

(R 632-633, 800)

It has been held that failure to include full definitions of justifiable and excusable homicide and culpable negligence as part of the instruction on manslaughter is fundamental error. In Alejo v. State, 483 So.2d 117 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), the District Court reiterated that an instruction defining justifiable and excusable homicide is necessary to provide a complete instruction on the crime of manslaughter, and that the court's failure in that case to give a complete instruction was reversible error, notwithstanding defense counsel's failure to make a timely objection. Alejo was convicted of second-degree murder. The First District Court of Appeal, in Ortagus v. State, 500 So.2d 1367 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), made it clear that the complete definition of excusable or justifiable homicide must be given "as part" of the instruction on manslaughter:

Florida courts have consistently held, starting with Hedges v. State, 172 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1965), that when a trial court gives an instruction on manslaughter it is reversible error for the court to fail to give an instruction on justifiable and excusable homicide. [Citations omitted.] Therefore, we are called upon to determine whether the trial court's summary definitions on excusable and

justifiable homicide given at the beginning of the jury instructions, and not in connection with the instruction on manslaughter, satisfied this fundamental obligation. We find it did not.

Id., 500 So.2d at 1370. In Ortagus, the jury received the same definition of manslaughter as did Petitioner's jury, plus "a brief and general definition of excusable and justifiable homicide ." Id., 500 So.2d at 1369. The Ortagus Court found that the incomplete manslaughter instruction

. . . failed to cover material elements of the offense, making the instruction necessarily misleading and prejudicial to the accused. [Citations omitted.] [Emphasis supplied.]

Id., 500 So.2d at 1370.

In Walker v. State, 520 So.2d 606 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), the defendant was convicted of second-degree murder. A different panel of District Judges relied upon the holding in Ortagus that:

. . . even though the jury was given an abbreviated instruction on justifiable and excusable homicide at the beginning of the homicide instructions, it was reversible error not to read the justifiable and excusable homicide defenses in their entirety contemporaneously with the manslaughter instruction given later. Ortagus at 1370. This is because manslaughter is a residual offense, defined by what it is not. See Kelsey v. State, 410 So.2d 988 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Consequently, the failure to fully instruct on the applicable defenses results in omitting material elements of the offense, which is necessarily misleading and prejudicial to the accused.

[Citations omitted.] [Emphasis supplied.]

Id.

In this case, the District Court acknowledged that the First and Second District Courts of Appeal have held that the failure to fully instruct a jury on justifiable and excusable homicide, as part of and contemporaneous with an instruction on manslaughter, is fundamental and reversible error where the defendant is convicted of second-degree murder. Walker, supra; Spaziano v. State, 522 So.2d 525 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); Ortagus, supra. The District Court, however, relied on the Third District Court of Appeal's decision in Garcia v. State, 535 So.2d 290 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), that the failure to give a complete manslaughter instruction was harmless error and not fundamental error. In the instant case, the District Court said:

We realize this opinion is in conflict with Walker, supra; Spaziano, supra (as modified by Tobey [v. State], 533 So.2d 1198 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988)).

Id., 535 So.2d at 676.

In Banda v. State, 536 So.2d 221 (Fla. 1988), upon rehearing, this Honorable Court affirmed a first-degree murder conviction even though a complete instruction on excusable and justifiable homicide was not given, because "there was no evidence which would have supported either defense," and cited Squires v. State, 450 So.2d 208 (Fla.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 892 (1984). In both this case and in Garcia v. State, supra, the District Courts reached the same conclusion of affirmance where

the defendants were convicted of second-degree murder upon incomplete manslaughter instructions. Both Courts relied on a reasoning that the jury's verdict of second-degree murder necessarily precluded a finding of guilt as to manslaughter. The Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case, moreover, stated that there was

. . . no evidence which could have supported a self-defense instruction. As in Garcia, the jury's conviction of Rojas of second degree murder required it to find the killing was by an act "imminently dangerous to another" and "evinced a depraved mind regardless of human life". These findings reject any possibility the killing was justifiable or excusable. . . .

Id., 535 So.2d 674, 676. (Emphasis in original.) (Footnote omitted.) As argued in Point 11, infra, Petitioner contends that evidence did exist to support an instruction on self-defense. Apart from that issue, however, Petitioner respectfully submits that the District Court's ruling herein is erroneous for other reasons.

In the original opinion in Banda, 13 F.L.W. 451 (Fla. July 14, 1988), this Honorable Court wrote:

. . . The record before us discloses that, without objection from the defense, the trial court instructed the jury on the crimes of first-degree murder, second-degree murder and manslaughter, but did not *so* instruct on excusable and justifiable homicide. Because manslaughter is a residual offense, an instruction on that crime must include a definition of excusable

and justifiable homicide. Hedges v. State, 172 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1965). However, the present case essentially is indistinguishable from Squires v. State, 450 So.2d 208 (Fla.), cert. denied. 469 U.S. 892 (1984). There, we held that where the defendant is found guilty of first-degree murder, an error or omission in an instruction on the lesser included offense of manslaughter is not fundamental error. Even if an objection had been made, appellant would not prevail because he was convicted of an offense greater than the least of the offenses correctly instructed. State v. Abreau, 363 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1978). . . .

In Tobey v. State, supra, the defendant's conviction for first-degree murder was affirmed, on the basis of the Banda decision as it appeared in November 1988, and in light of Banda, the Second District Court of Appeal sought to correct Spaziano v. State, supra. The District Court clarified that a thorough instruction on excusable and justifiable homicide was essential in Spaziano's case because it allowed the jury to pass upon Spaziano's only defense. In Tobey's case, the jury was fully instructed on excusable and justifiable homicide elsewhere in the jury instructions than during the manslaughter definition.

In Smith v. State, 14 F.L.W. 541 (Fla. 2d DCA February 24, 1989), the situations in Spaziano and Tobey were later explained to be "context (a)" cases, where the question is whether a full jury instruction on a defendant's presented defense has been given. Both Spaziano and Tobey, however, were cases wherein the defendant was convicted of a crime two steps removed from the

inadequately defined crime of manslaughter and did not involve a "context (b)" situation where the defendant was convicted of second-degree murder.

As to context (b), a jury instruction on manslaughter is incomplete if the jury is not also instructed on both excusable homicide and justifiable homicide. The reason is that the offense of manslaughter is a residual offense which may exist when the degrees of homicide do not exist and a killing is not justifiable or excusable. See Hedges v. State, 172 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1965). In this case the trial court followed the standard jury instruction for manslaughter and had previously read the the jury the instruction on justifiable homicide and the short form instruction on excusable homicide. We hold in this context (b) that the failure to give the long form excusable homicide instruction was fundamental error. Alejo v. State, 483 So.2d 117 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). The giving of that instruction promotes the opportunity of the jury to exercise its inherent pardon power. See State v. Abreau, 363 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1978).

Ld., 14 F.L.W. at 542.

In Smith, the District Court found support for this holding in Banda, as published upon rehearing. Although Banda was decided as a "context (a)" case, this Honorable Court cited Squires v. State, supra, in support of its conclusion; and the Second District Court of Appeal noted:

If may be argued that Squires calls for the result we reach in this case. In Squires the supreme court stated, "Where defendant is convicted of first-degree murder an

error or omission in an instruction on the lesser included offense of manslaughter is not fundamental error." Id., at 211. That statement could be taken to imply, as Alejo held, that where a defendant, as in this case, is convicted of second-degree murder, an error or omission in an instruction on the lesser included offense of manslaughter is fundamental error. Yet in State v. Bryan, 287 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1973), the supreme court found no fundamental error in an incomplete manslaughter instruction (where the omission concerned the definition of culpable negligence, not excusable or justifiable homicide) when the defendant was convicted of second-degree murder. And in City of Orlando v. Birmingham, 14 F.L.W. 33 (Fla. January 19, 1989), the supreme court stated, "[I]n criminal cases where the alleged error is giving or failing to give a particular jury instruction, this court has refused to allow parties to object to the instruction for the first time on appeal." While Birmingham was a civil case, its above statement is dicta, and the supreme court again made no reference to a difference between contexts (a) and (b), it appears to be a category (b) case.

Nonetheless, Castor v. State, 364 So.2d 701, 703-704 (Fla. 1978), implies that there is fundamental error in omitting the definitions of excusable and justifiable homicide from the initial manslaughter instruction, although that case found no fundamental error in such an omission during re-instruction, as opposed to initial instruction, on manslaughter in a case involving a conviction for third-degree murder.

The Smith Court also dismissed Garcia's and this case's

reasoning that the jury's verdict of second-degree murder precluded a conviction for manslaughter because the finding of a depraved mind rejected "any possibility the killing was justifiable or excusable." Rojas v. State, 535 So.2d at 676. The Smith Court disagreed:

. . . We do not disagree that the fact that the jury found that defendant had acted with a depraved mind means that the jury could not have concluded that he had acted justifiably or excusably. Nonetheless, we do not conclude that that would mean that the jury could not have convicted defendant of manslaughter. Indeed, the conclusion that the jury thereby found no defense to manslaughter means that the jury could have convicted defendant of manslaughter. Thus, it appears to us that the Garcia conclusion is essentially that the fact that the jury convicted defendant of one offense meant that it would not have convicted him of an offense one step lesser if the jury had been correctly instructed on that lesser offense. We would disagree with that conclusion, especially having in mind a jury's inherent pardon power. As is stated in Abreau, 363 So.2d at 1064, "the failure to instruct on the next immediate lesser-included offense (one step removed) constitutes error that is per se reversible."

Smith, 14 F.L.W. at 544, fn. 2.

The District Court erred in this case by affirming Petitioner's conviction for second-degree murder.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING
PETITIONER'S REQUEST THAT THE JURY
BE INSTRUCTED ON SELF-DEFENSE.

In summarizing the trial court's and counsel's conference on the jury instructions to be given, the trial court stated:

THE COURT: . . . Defense counsel also is requesting that I give an instruction on justifiable use of deadly force or self-defense. The State objects. I agree with the State's position. Those issues have not been framed by the evidence presented in the case and, therefore, I believe an instruction on those topics would be inappropriate.

(R 548)

Although there were several inconsistencies and contradictions among the State witnesses' accounts of what happened in this case, it was fairly clear that the deceased had jumped into the driver's window of Petitioner's car and that Petitioner and the deceased were fighting as Petitioner drove away. (R 184, 217, 218, 256, 292, 458, 472) One of the occupants of Petitioner's car testified that Petitioner and the deceased fought in the street outside the car; another said that when Petitioner stopped his car, Ricky Delgado helped get the deceased "off" of Petitioner. (R 184, 185-186, 202, 208, 219, 220) Although Petitioner did not take the stand at trial, the testimony of other witnesses provided ample evidence to suggest that, if he was the person who stabbed the deceased, his actions could have been in self-defense. This Honorable Court has

repeatedly held that a defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on the rules of law applicable to his theory of defense if there is *any* evidence to support such instruction. Smith v. State, 424 So.2d 726, 732 (Fla. 1983); Bryant v. State, 412 So.2d 347, 350 (Fla. 1982); Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648, 652 (Fla. 1981); Motley v. State, 155 Fla. 545, 20 So.2d 798 (1945). Without the requested instruction, the jury found that the State's evidence did not establish that Petitioner had killed the deceased with premeditation, and acquitted him of first-degree murder. (R 655) It cannot be asserted that advising the jury that killing in self-defense is a lawful act would not have further affected its verdict. Compounded with the trial court's failure to fully define manslaughter, the next lesser included offense of murder, this error is especially harmful. It was Petitioner's right to have his jury instructed on self-defense because there **was** evidence to support his theory of defense. He is entitled to a new trial.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO CONDUCT AN ADEQUATE INQUIRY INTO THE STATE'S FAILURE TO INFORM THE DEFENSE UNTIL DURING TRIAL THAT A PREVIOUSLY UNAVAILABLE STATE WITNESS HAD BEEN LOCATED,

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