woon

of ward

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOEY LUIS ROJAS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 73,622

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE

JUL 5 1989

CLERK, SUPLEME COURT

Deputy Clerk

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

PAMELA D. CICHON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #321508 125 N. Ridgewood Ave. Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the appellant in the Fifth District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court. Respondent was the appellee and the prosecution. References to the trial transcript will be designated herein by "(R)" with the specific page number included. A copy of the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion in this case, Rojas v. State, 535 So.2d 674 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) is included in the appendix to this brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: A harmless error analysis should be used in this case to determine whether the court's failure to instruct the jury on justifiable and excusable homicide as part of the manslaughter instruction was reversible error. No evidence was presented to support justifiable or excusable homicide as petitioner's theory of defense and the jury was not hindered in exercising its pardon power since it found petitioner guilty of second degree murder rather than first. Reversal of petitioner's conviction is not warranted.

<u>POINT 11</u>: Petitioner's requested jury instruction on self-defense was properly denied by the trial court where no evidence of self defense was presented at trial.

<u>POINT 111</u>: The trial court properly permitted the state's witness, Ed Shaw, to testify. The discussion of the matter before the court satisfied the requirements of a <u>Richardson</u> hearing and the court granted the specific relief requested by the defense although it did not find any willful violation of the discovery rules. Petitioner has still not articulated any prejudice to him caused by this witness being allowed to testify.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO RENDER A CONTEMPORANEOUS DEFINITION OF JUSTIFIABLE AND EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE WITH ITS INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER WAS NOT REVERSIBLE ERROR.

The failure of the trial judge to instruct on justifiable and excusable homicide as part of the manslaughter instruction is not per se reversible error. The specific facts of each case must be examined when resolving this issue. In the instant case, failure to repeat the definitions of justifiable and excusable homicide in conjunction with the manslaughter instruction was harmless error and not fundamental since the evidence did not require the jury to pass on justifiable or excusable homicide as petitioner's theory of defense. significant facts in the instant case which distinguish it from those cases in which reversible error was found, and which support the district court's decision in this case, are as follows: petitioner offered no defense equivalent to justifiable or excusable homicide; the court instructed on those terms elsewhere in the instructions (R 729-30); petitioner expressly approved the instructions prior to their being given (R 628) and made no objection to the manslaughter instruction afterward (R 648); petitioner was charged with first degree murder (R 753) and convicted of second degree murder (R 793-94).

Although the Fifth District Court of Appeal stated that its opinion in this case was in conflict with <u>Walker v. State</u>, 520 So.2d 606 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) and <u>Spaziano v. State</u>, 522 So.2d

525 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) as modified by Tobey v. State, 533 So.2d 1198 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), Walker is factually distinguishable and the decision there is not in conflict with that of the case at Walker presented a version of the killing that could have been viewed as self-defense or accidental if believed by the Since justifiable or excusable homicide was clearly his theory of defense, it was fundamental error for the trial court to reinstruct the jury fully on those terms not. reinstruction was requested on the definitions of second-degree murder and manslaughter. It should be noted that the First District Court relied on its previous decisions in Ortaqus v. State, 500 So.2d 1267 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), where the record supported a theory of defense based on excusable homicide making the trial court's error fundamental, and Kelsey v. State, 410 So.2d 988 (Fla. 1st DC 1982) without any recognition that a harmless error analysis could be applied. That analysis was correctly applied in the instant case where there was no evidence of self-defense. (Discussed in Point II herein).

At first glance, the "corrected" <u>Spaziano</u> would appear to conflict with the instant case, but only because of the court's discussion of <u>Banda v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 221 (Fla. 1988). However, <u>Spaziano</u> is factually more like <u>Walker</u> than <u>Rojas</u> because the instruction on justifiable and excusable homicide was essential to permit the jury to pass upon Spaziano's only defense (he did not know the gun was loaded and the shooting was claimed to be accidental). Again, such was not called for by the evidence in the instant case and so there was no conflict in the reasoning or the outcome of these two cases.

Banda and Squires v. State, 450 So.2d 208 (Fla. 1984) established that an error in an instruction on the lesser included offense of manslaughter was not fundamental when the defendant had been convicted of first degree murder. Affirming the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Rojas would not serve to overrule Banda, but would allow for additional considerations when applying a harmless error analysis and possibly permit Banda to be taken one step further. In Banda, this court noted that "[e]ven if an objection had been made, appellant would not prevail because he was convicted of an offense [first degree murder] greater than the least of the offenses correctly instructed." Although Rojas was convicted of second degree murder, he was charged with first degree murder, and logic should be applied to find, as did the district court, that the jury had obviously rejected the possibility that the murder committed by Rojas was justifiable or excusable, and had instead reached the conclusion that Rojas' act was "imminently dangerous to another and "evinced a depraved mind regardless of human life." Such finding by the jury necessarily rejects any possibility that the killing was justifiable or excusable. See, Rojas, at 676.

Had the jury found Rojas guilty of manslaughter, rather than second degree murder, only then would he have a reasonable argument that the failure to fully define manslaughter (by explaining what it is not) affected the verdict in his case and possibly deprived him of being acquitted. Cf. <u>Turner v. State</u>, 414 So.2d 1161,1161-62 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 535

So.2d 290 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988)(review pending, Case No. 73,555). If petitioner's claim of prejudice concerns the jury's exercise of its pardon power, respondent's answer is the same. The jury may have been exercising its pardon power when it found petitioner guilty of second degree murder rather than of first degree murder as charged. The jury essentially never reached the manslaughter instruction and so its deficiencies were harmless error. Respondent incorporates in its argument the reasoning of the Third District Court of Appeal found in footnote 5 of Garcia, supra, at 293. (Appendix B)

What the district court did not do in reviewing the instant case was consider it only as either a "context (a)" case or a "context (b)" case, but instead looked to the evidence which had bearing on whether it was a "context (a)" case, where the question is whether a full jury instruction on a defendant's theory of defense has been given, and when it found that the defense theory did not fall within the definition of a justifiable and excusable homicide, the court then applied that finding to conclude without a doubt that the jury's verdict would not have been different even if the manslaughter instruction had been expanded. Thus, the court was able to determine that even in a "context (b)" situation where the defendant was convicted of second-degree murder, the error was not only nonfundamental (petitioner did not preserve this issue by raising an objection in the trial court), but it was harmless.

The district court's affirmance of petitioner's conviction for second-degree murder was correct and no new trial on that charge is warranted.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED PETITIONER'S REQUEST THAT THE JURY BE INSTRUCTED ON SELF-DEFENSE.

The trial court is only permitted to charge he jury with the law which is applicable to the facts of the particular case as revealed by the evidence adduced at trial. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.390(a).

Contrary to petitioner's assertion, no evidence at his trial showed the need for petitioner to use a deadly weapon (a knife) to defend himself against the victim. In fact, the evidence shows petitioner as the aggressor in the confrontation. After the victim delivered a piece of crack cocaine to the petitioner, the latter attempted to leave in his vehicle without paying for the goods (R 457). The victim then leapt through the window of the vehicle (R 256, 537) in an attempt to retrieve his stolen merchandise or stop petitioner from leaving and avoid being "ripped off" by petitioner (R 458, 538). According to the defense witness, petitioner then drove for "up to a mile" with the victim's legs hanging out the window. (R 539). witnesses described the distance as two blocks. (R 185, 219). Once the victim was extricated from the vehicle, he was standing in the street 5-10 feet from the car (R 220, 222). Petitioner then left the safety of his vehicle and engaged in a fist fight with the victim when he could have simply driven away (R 185-186, The victim was left in the road (R 221). girls who were in the vehicle with the petitioner testified that petitioner hit the victim a couple times (R 186), that petitioner

struck the last blow (R 221) and then he got back in the car and drove away. Terry never saw the victim hit the petitioner (R 203). Friends of the victim, who had followed petitioner's vehicle and were about four cars behind, encountered the victim on the ground with a hole in his chest (R 258-9).

Petitioner did not testify and none of the facts above, as testified to by other witnesses, suggested that petitioner stabbed the victim through the heart in self-defense. The trial court correctly rejected petitioner's request for an instruction on that defense.

The confrontation in this case could be characterized as "a sudden combat," and if so, because petitioner used a dangerous weapon, the resulting death of the victim is excluded from those killings that are by definition excusable.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT CONDUCTED ADEQUATE INQUIRY INTO THE STATE'S FAILURE TO INFORM THE DEFENSE PRIOR TO TRIAL THAT A PREVIOUSLY UNAVAILABLE STATE WITNESS HAD BEEN LOCATED.

When the state first called Ed Shaw as a witness, the petitioner made no objection or motion to exclude Shaw from testifying. Counsel simply requested the opportunity to speak to Shaw prior to his testimony (R 408). Although the court did not specifically state that it was going to hold a hearing pursuant to Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971), the court was aware of the possible necessity for such and initiated a discussion which elicited the state's explanation for the alleged discovery violation (R 410). The state had Shaw listed as a witness, but neither side had been able to locate him until the state's investigator found him on the street in the same vicinity as where the confrontation between the victim and petitioner began (R 445), and served him with a subpoena on Good Friday (R 410-11, 438). The trial commenced on Monday. The state did not know until 7:00 the previous evening, when the prosecutor finally had a brief chance to speak to Shaw, that it was going to call him as a witness (R 412, 442). The court then took a recess and permitted defense counsel the time to take Shaw's deposition (R The prosecutor had not had an opportunity to get a full statement from Shaw until just prior to that deposition (R 439-40, 443). The prosecutor did not become aware until Sunday night that Shaw had been served with the subpoena (R 444).

After defense counsel took Shawls deposition, the court provided petitioner the opportunity to express his perceived prejudice, which he did (R 443-445). The only claim of prejudice was that the defense had been forced to cross-examine "a lot of [the state's] witnesses not even knowing he's [Shaw] going to testify." (R 445) and that Shaw "said several things that contradict things James Jackson says, some of which I got out in testimony, others which I could have if I had known that this man was under subpoena." (R 443) The petitioner never did articulate an objection to or a motion to exclude the testimony of Ed Shaw, nor did the petitioner ever state what "things" he would have attempted to elicit on cross-examination had he known that the state had found, and was planning to call, Shaw as a witness.

See, Johnson v. State, 461 So.2d 1385, 1390 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

Defense counsel's assertion, during the Richardson inquiry, that the defense was prejudiced because they prepared their case without knowing of the statement is too broad and conclusory to entitle the defendant to exclusion of the statement.

Id.

The trial court properly ruled that it was not going to exclude Shawls testimony (R 445) and that "if any further discussions or further action needs to be taken relative to the witness we will do it then [during the lunch break after direct examination of Shaw]." (R 446) The record reflects no motion by the defense at the conclusion of the direct examination or prior to the cross-examination of Shaw. Had petitioner needed

time to obtain rebuttal witnesses, he could have moved for a recess of hours or days. Had petitioner truly been deprived of cross-examining some of the state's witnesses regarding certain information possessed by Shaw, petitioner could have recalled those witnesses during the defense case-in-chief.

The trial court did not find that the state committed any willful discovery violation. The state had supplied the defense with Shaw's last known address and witness statement in accordance with Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.220(a)(1)(i) and (ii) (R 411, 445). Clearly, the state was under no obligation to procure Shaw on behalf of the defense and the state did not have any better address for Shaw after it served him with the subpoena than it did beforehand.

Although an inquiry under <u>Richardson</u> is not required unless it has been demonstrated that a violation of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.220 has in fact occurred, <u>Neimeyer v. State</u>, 378 So.2d 818 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980), the presentations by both counsels initiated by the court were sufficient to satisfy the requirements of <u>Richardson</u> and to permit the court to determine the necessity of excluding the witness. "The court's failure to call the inquiry a *Richardson* hearing or to make formal findings concerning each of the pertinent *Richardson* considerations does not constitute reversible error." <u>Wilkerson v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 1376 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

Exclusion is an extreme remedy which should be invoked only under the most compelling circumstances. Relevant evidence should not be excluded from the jury unless no other remedy

suffices, and it was incumbent upon the trial court, assuming the state had some duty to put petitioner in contact with the witness, to determine whether other reasonable alternatives could be employed to overcome or mitigate any possible prejudice. Austin v. State, 461 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). instant case, the court allowed petitioner unlimited time to depose Shaw and specifically did not foreclose any further requests from the defense after Shaw testified on direct. remedial action coupled with petitioner's failure to articulate and make the court aware of the peculiar manner in which the sudden disclosure of Shaw's availability as a witness would adversely affect petitioner's case, supports the trial court's refusal to exclude the witness. "[A] ruling on whether a discovery violation calls for the exclusion of testimony is discretionary, and should not be disturbed on appeal unless an abuse is clearly shown. Mobley v. State, 327 So. 2d 900 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976)." Wilkerson, supra.

Petitioner has not demonstrated an abuse of the trial court's discretion and so the District Court of Appeal did not err in refusing to reverse on this issue.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, appellee respectfully prays this honorable court uphold the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal and affirm petitioner's convictions and sentences.